
29 November 2018 at 7.00 pm

Conference Room, Argyle Road, Sevenoaks
Despatched: 21.11.18

Policy & Performance Advisory 
Committee 
Membership:
Chairman, Cllr. Fleming; Vice-Chairman, Cllr. Miss. Stack  
Cllrs. C. Barnes, Clark, Halford, Kelly, Krogdahl, Maskell, McGregor, Mrs. Morris, 
Parkin and Thornton

Agenda
There are no fire drills planned. If the fire alarm is activated, which is a 
continuous siren with a flashing red light, please leave the building immediately, 
following the fire exit signs.

Apologies for Absence
Pages Contact

1.  Minutes (Pages 1 - 4)
To agree the Minutes of the meeting of the 
Committee held on 20 September 2018, as a 
correct record.

2.  Declarations of Interest 
Any interests not already registered

3.  Actions from previous meeting (if any)  

4.  Update from Portfolio Holder Cllr. Peter Fleming

5.  Referrals from Cabinet or the Audit 
Committee (if any) 

 

6.  Communications Review (Pages 5 - 22) Lee Banks 
Tel: 01732 227161

7.  Budget 2019/20: Service Dashboard and 
Service Change Impact Assessments (SCIAs) 

(Pages 23 - 46) Adrian Rowbotham 
Tel: 01732 227153

8.  Work Plan (Pages 47 - 48)  

EXEMPT INFORMATION 

At the time of preparing this agenda there were no exempt items. During any 
such items which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public.



If you wish to obtain further factual information on any of the agenda items listed 
above, please contact the named officer prior to the day of the meeting.

Should you need this agenda or any of the reports in a different format, or 
have any other queries concerning this agenda or the meeting please contact 
Democratic Services on 01732 227000 or democratic.services@sevenoaks.gov.uk.



3

POLICY & PERFORMANCE ADVISORY COMMITTEE

Minutes of the meeting held on 20 September 2018 commencing at 7.30 pm

Present: Cllr. Fleming (Chairman)

Cllr. Miss Stack (Vice Chairman)

Cllrs. C. Barnes, Clark, Kelly, Mrs. Morris and Thornton

Apologies for absence were received from Cllrs. Halford, Krogdahl, 
Maskell, McGregor and Parkin

Cllrs. Dr. Canet, Carroll and Eyre were also present.

10.   Minutes 

Resolved: That the Minutes of the meeting of the Advisory Committee held 
on 21 June 2018 be approved and signed by the Chairman as a correct 
record.

11.   Declarations of Interest 

There were no additional declarations of interest.

12.   Actions from previous meeting 

There were none.

13.   Update from Portfolio Holder 

The Portfolio Holder, and Chairman, reported that the Premier Inn was now open 
for trading and the feedback had been positive.

He also confirmed that the Buckhurst 2 car park was on schedule, but road works 
on the junction in the town centre had been delayed by two weeks.

The Portfolio Holder also reaffirmed to Members that the Swanley sites were 
moving forward and plans for the site would be set out by the end of the year. He 
also explained that Officers continued to assess options for the White Oak leisure 
centre.

The newly developed artist studios above M&Co on Sevenoaks High Street were 85% 
full, with most customers coming from the Sevenoaks and Tonbridge areas.

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



Policy & Performance Advisory Committee - 20 September 2018

4

Finally, the Portfolio Holder advised Members that the Tesco Metro in the High 
Street would close in October. He explained that the supermarket was important 
to the local area and members of the Economic Development team had approached 
the owners of the site to better understand if any operators would be interested in 
the site and what their requirements would be.

14.   Referrals from Cabinet or the Audit Committee 

There were none.

15.   Customer Redesign 

The Corporate Customer Services & Delivery Manager presented the report and 
gave a presentation on the customer redesign project. The project was delivered 
by officers to focus on the improving the customer experience across the 
organisation.

The project looked at services with high customer contact and identified how to 
give customers the information they required first time, without the need to pass 
the caller on elsewhere across the Council. A new operating model was introduced, 
to build a new Customer Solutions centre, which provided staff with a clear career 
path to build their skills and knowledge and improve the customer experience.

She explained that the company IESE shared their knowledge around training, 
putting the customer at the centre. Members were advised that this was a way to 
achieve and the future operating model would mean all staff have a core set of 
skills.

The Chairman advised that as part of the customer redesign, the Customer 
Solutions team as they will be called, would have a “golden conversation”. This 
means that the team would use previous knowledge to ask further questions in 
order to complete further tasks the customer may have down the line, so instead 
of four phone calls for four separate issues, one phone call could answer all four 
issues at one time.

In response to questions by Members regarding timeframes for this redesign, the 
Chief Officer Corporate Services confirmed that the team would be relocated in 
the Argyle Road Offices and would be taking calls from the middle of October.

Resolved: That the report be noted.

CHANGE IN ORDER OF AGENDA ITEMS

With the Committee’s agreement, the Chairman brought forward the consideration 
of agenda item 9.

Page 2

Agenda Item 1

https://cds.sevenoaks.gov.uk/documents/s35573/06%20PPAC%2020%2009%2018%20Customer%20Redesign.pdf?J=3


Policy & Performance Advisory Committee - 20 September 2018

5

16.   Corporate Plan Update 

The Head of Transformation & Strategy advised Members that the aims of the 
Council’s last Corporate Plan had been achieved in 2013. 

Over the last 12 months, Officers have worked with Members to set out what the 
Council wanted to achieve for its residents, to form a new Corporate Plan. The 
Chairman tabled some draft wording of the Corporate Plan, which was worked on 
by the working group.

The Chairman explained that a working group had spent time reading other 
Corporate Plans and explained that the Sevenoaks District Council Corporate Plan 
would be split into five separate themes, underpinned with three “pillars”, 
excellent services, innovation and quality, and delivering the best value.

He informed Members that the wording for the Corporate Plan provided would be 
submitted to Full Council in November for adoption.

Resolved: That the report be noted.

17.   Health in All policies 

The Vice Chairman for Policy & Performance Advisory Committee gave a 
presentation on the Health in All policies, which would be an essential part of the 
wellbeing of the new Corporate Plan being compiled by Sevenoaks District Council.

She explained to Members that all aspects of work carried out by Sevenoaks 
District Council could have a positive impact on people’s health and wherever 
possible, preventative measures should be put in place to make sure health runs 
through all policies within the Council.

Resolved: That the report be noted.  

18.   Work Plan 

The work plan was noted and “Communications review” and “Budget setting” were 
added to the 29 November 2018 meeting.

THE MEETING WAS CONCLUDED AT 8.37 PM

CHAIRMAN

Page 3

Agenda Item 1

https://cds.sevenoaks.gov.uk/documents/s35570/Corporate%20Plan%20Supplement.pdf?J=3
https://cds.sevenoaks.gov.uk/documents/s35572/07%20Health%20in%20All%20Policies%20presentation%20Policy%20Performance%20Committee%20Sept%2020%202018.pdf?J=3


Policy & Performance Advisory Committee - 20 September 2018

6
Page 4

Agenda Item 1



COMMUNICATIONS REVIEW

Policy and Performance Advisory Committee – 29 November 2018

Report of Pav Ramewal - Chief Executive

Status For Consideration

Key Decision No

Portfolio Holder Cllr. Peter Fleming

Contact Officer Lee Banks, Ext. 7161

Recommendations to Policy and Performance Advisory Committee: 

a) The findings of the Communications Peer Review are noted; and 

b) Members views on the findings of the Peer Review team be considered by 
Officers in the implementation of the recommendations.

Introduction and Background

1 Between 3 and 5 September this year the Council welcomed a Peer Review 
team to undertake a review of the its communications activity.

2 Organised by the Local Government Association, peer reviews are delivered 
by experienced elected member and officer peers. Peers were selected on 
the basis of their relevant experience and expertise. The peers who 
delivered the peer review were:

 Lead peer: Jayne Surman, (marketing and communications manager, 
Warwickshire County Council);

 Member peer: Cllr Kevin Bentley (deputy leader and cabinet member for 
infrastructure, Essex County Council);

 Senior communications officer peer: Lynne Morris (head of news and 
internal communications, Local Government Association);

 Senior communications officer peer: Jon-Paul Hedge (director of 
communications, Exeter City Council);

 Review manager: Claire Thurlow (communications improvement advisor, 
Local Government Association); 

 Shadow communications officer peer: Kelsey Stubbs (communications and 
engagement lead for economy and infrastructure, West Sussex County 
Council; and

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



 Shadow peer: Chloe Newman (communications improvement assistant 
Local Government Association)

3 At the Council’s request the review focussed on a number of specific 
priorities. These were:

 Capacity and capability;

 Digital;

 Role of members;

 Internal communications; and

 Priority setting.

4 The Peer Review team concluded that Sevenoaks District Council has a 
strong communications base and a clear appetite to succeed. 

5 To assist the Council to achieve its aims the Peer Review team has set out a 
range of recommendations which are outlined in their report, which is 
provided at Appendix A. It is the Peer Teams view that by implementing 
these recommendations the council will be able to build on its strong 
communications base to deliver even greater impact.

Key Implications

Financial

There are no financial implications to this report.

Legal Implications and Risk Assessment Statement.

There are no legal or risk implications related to this report.

Equality Assessment

The decisions recommended through this paper have a remote or low relevance to 
the substance of the Equality Act. There is no perceived impact on end users.

Conclusions

This report is for information only and Members are requested to note the report.

Appendices Appendix A – Communications Peer Review report

Background Papers None.

Pav Ramewal

Chief Executive

Page 6

Agenda Item 6



1

Local Government House, Smith Square, London SW1P 3HZ T 020 7664 3000 F 020 7664 3030 E info@local.gov.uk www.local.gov.uk
Chief Executive: Mark Lloyd

  

Appendix A

Communications Peer Review
Sevenoaks District Council 
3 - 5 September 2018 

Feedback Report 

Page 7

Agenda Item 6

mailto:info@local.gov.uk
http://www.local.gov.uk/


1. Purpose of report

This report provides a summary of the findings of the Sevenoaks District Council 
communications peer review. It builds on the main messages which were discussed with 
leading members and officers from the council at our feedback session on 5 September 
2018. It is intended to provide a basis for consideration and action by the council to 
enhance the effectiveness of its communications activity and ensure the best use of 
resources deployed to support those.

2. Context and focus of the review

Sevenoaks District Council is currently in the process of developing its new corporate plan, 
having achieved the ambitions of its previous strategy ahead of schedule. The emerging 
plan focuses on a desire for the organisation to position itself as a ‘seriously different 
council’, with a focus on wellbeing running throughout each of its priority areas of focus. 
There is also a commitment to display excellence, innovation, and value through 
everything the council undertakes. The council recognises that effective communication 
has an important role to play in helping it to achieve these aims. In light of this, the council 
approached the Local Government Association to commission a three day communications 
review focused on a number of specific priorities. These were: 

 Capacity and capability. Does the council have the right level of resources and 
model in place for delivering its communications and to meet the aspirations of 
Members? How effective is current communications activity? What are the 
communications skills the council needs now and in the future to meet its 
ambitions?

 Digital. Is the council making the most of the opportunities presented by digital 
communications? What role should communications play in the council’s desire to 
enhance the customer journey?

 Role of members. With the current level of resources, are members appropriately 
supported and informed to be effective communicators for the council?

 Internal communications. Internal communications is recognised as critical to the 
organisations success. Is there sufficient resource and the right balance between 
internal and external communications activity? Are staff supported to be advocates 
for the organisation and its ambitions?

 Priority setting. With the council about to develop a new corporate plan, local plan 
and extend its services into public health, to what extent is communications activity 
adequately resourced and aligned with organisational priorities?

3. The peer team and process

Peer challenges are delivered by experienced elected member and officer peers. The 
make-up of the peer team reflected your requirements and the focus of the peer challenge.  
Peers were selected on the basis of their relevant experience and expertise and were 
agreed with you. The peers who delivered the peer challenge were:

Page 8

Agenda Item 6



 Lead peer: Jayne Surman, (marketing and communications manager, Warwickshire 
County Council)

 Member peer: Cllr Kevin Bentley (deputy leader and cabinet member for 
infrastructure, Essex County Council)

 Senior communications officer peer: Lynne Morris (head of news and internal 
communications, Local Government Association)

 Senior communications officer peer: Jon-Paul Hedge (director of communications, 
Exeter City Council)

 Review manager: Claire Thurlow (communications improvement advisor, Local 
Government Association)

 Shadow communications officer peer: Kelsey Stubbs (communications and 
engagement lead for economy and infrastructure, West Sussex County Council

 Shadow peer: Chloe Newman (communications improvement assistant Local 
Government Association)

It is important to stress that this was not an inspection. Peer reviews are improvement-
focussed and tailored to meet individual councils’ needs. They are designed to 
complement and add value to a council’s own performance and improvement focus.  The 
peer team used their experience and knowledge of local government communications to 
reflect on the information presented to them by people they met, things they saw and 
material that they read.

The peer team prepared by reviewing a range of documents and information including the 
council’s corporate plan, communications strategies and position statement.

The team then spent three days onsite in Sevenoaks, during which they:

 spoke to more than 50 people, including a range of council staff together with 
councillors and external stakeholders

 gathered information and views from around 30 interviews, focus groups and 
meetings 

 collectively spent more than 150 hours to determine our findings – the equivalent of 
one person spending around four weeks in Sevenoaks.

Page 9

Agenda Item 6



4. Principles of good communication

In undertaking our work, we were guided by an understanding of the importance of good 
communications and how to achieve these. The LGA has found the following to underpin 
effective communications across the councils that it works with: 

5. Executive summary

Sevenoaks District Council is an ambitious, high performing and evidently extremely 
successful council. Resident satisfaction levels are consistently high, it has achieved 
impressive results in respect of financial self-sufficiency and there is a clear appetite for 
continuing to develop, despite already being recognised as an example of excellence 
through a number of local government awards and accolades. It also benefits from an 
extremely positive culture and commitment to internal communication. The peer team 
was particularly struck by the consistently high levels of employee engagement, 

Why is good communications important?

 Articulates the ambition for your area
 Improves corporate and personal reputation
 Supports good political leadership
 Helps engagement – residents, partners and staff
 Builds trust
 Rallies advocates
 Drives change and can deliver savings
 Attracts investment (and good people)
 Can be used to managed performance
 Strengthens public support and understanding

What does good communication look like?

 Leadership - clarity of purpose and commitment
 Brand - what you stand for, values and trust
 A clear vision - be ambitious first…and then realistic!
 Authentic
 Strategic - Communication without strategy does not work
 A corporately agreed, fully evaluated annual communications plan - 

not just sending out ad hoc stuff!
 Based on research and insight
 Campaigns linked to corporate priorities and resourced accordingly
 Evaluated
 Owned by everyone

Page 10

Agenda Item 6



enthusiasm and passion demonstrated across all of our interviews. It is a council that 
people are clearly proud to work for and represent as members. It is also a council with 
ambitions to broaden its reach and continue to tell its story more widely.

Delivering effective communications will be vital if the council is to achieve these goals; 
and it was clear from our time on site that the communications function is working 
extremely hard to meet the demand for communications support from service areas and 
members. This is particularly impressive given that the council’s dedicated corporate 
communications resource is significantly smaller than the national average for a district 
council. The team is well regarded by many internal customers and has built strong and 
effective relationships with many service areas, members and media outlets. There is a 
strong willingness to always reflect the council’s corporate commitment to customer 
service and deliver the support requested. Many officers we met with struggled to recall 
a request for support ever being turned down.

This commitment to customer service is extremely commendable. However it is our 
view that the current approach, with the current resources, is not sustainable in the long 
term, especially given the ambitions the leadership has for the organisation. Adopting a 
more strategic, structured approach to communications support, and considering the 
need for service areas and members to outline how their request supports the priorities 
of the emerging corporate plan, would make the council’s communications even more 
effective. It is our view that it would also help to manage expectations around what the 
communications team can, and will, deliver. To support this work we would encourage 
the council to embed more strategic communications resource into the department and 
develop a new communications strategy aligned to the corporate plan. We would also 
encourage the council to develop a forward-looking campaign plan and news grid 
(agreed by senior officers, members, communications and service areas) to ensure that 
there are agreed, budgeted and focused opportunities to deliver proactive, strategic 
communications alongside day-to-day reactive demands. 

Many of those we spoke to expressed an enthusiasm for exploring greater digital 
communications opportunities. While there are already some good examples of digital 
and social media communications, we would encourage the council to support more 
training and development in digital communications to ensure consistency across the 
council. Additional training would also help to meet demand, provide resilience and 
make sure that those tasked with communicating in this way have the correct skills to 
make the best use of these platforms. We would also encourage the council to 
introduce more regular ways to evaluate the impact of its digital and traditional 
channels, understand resident communications preferences and help members and 
service areas better see the impact and value that a strategic communications service 
can deliver. 

We would also encourage the council to consider more direct ways to communicate with 
members. This should include providing more regular communication updates and 
exploring opportunities for members to contribute to proactive, strategic 
communications that align with agreed corporate priorities. Additional media and social 
media training would also be beneficial for ensuring consistent communications across 
the organisation and supporting members to communicate with a wider range of 
residents. In turn, we would encourage the council to ensure that officers, and in 
particular the communications service, are empowered to delivering the agreed 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



communications activities and are supported to prioritise this work above more ad-hoc 
requests. 

Sevenoaks District Council has a strong communications base and a clear appetite to 
succeed. It is our view that by implementing the recommendations outlined in this report 
the council will be able to build on these solid foundations to deliver even greater 
impact.

6. Feedback

6.1 Capacity and capability

Sevenoaks District Council has a core communications team consisting of one 
communications and consultation manager, a communications officer and access to 
support from a policy and communications assistant. This brings the total dedicated 
communications resource to 2.4FTE – the national average for a district is 3.7 FTE1. 
Despite comparatively few posts, communications has responsibility for an extremely 
wide range of activities including, among others, media relations, reputation, the 
council’s communication channels, public notices, consultation, marketing, social media 
and brand and reputation. 

While the activities the team is engaged in are those that we would expect to see in a 
modern council communications function, the peer team was concerned about the level 
of resources available to deliver all of this work. With such a wide remit, there is a risk 
that the communications function will be faced with too much demand and will be 
unable to deliver all that is requested of it.

It should be noted, that we actually came across only a few examples where the 
communications had not been able to meet demand. Many of those we met with 
highlighted the incredible goodwill, and willingness of the communications team to meet 
demand and deliver support to its internal customers and external stakeholders. Few of 
those we spoke with could remember requests ever being declined and there was great 
recognition across our interviews of the extremely high levels of professionalism and 
commitment demonstrated by the service. This ability to multi-task and juggle demands 
is to their credit.

However, it is our view that current resources, and the somewhat uncoordinated 
requests for communications support, are limiting the time that the team has to pause, 
think and plan; and develop proactive campaigns to meet the councils short, medium 
and long term objectives. The almost constant demand for support could make it difficult 
for the team, and the council, to achieve the strategic ambitions that it is setting out in its 
emerging corporate plan, and leaves little room to discuss and develop more time and 
resource intensive activities or consider how to effectively evaluate its work.

To mitigate this risk, we would encourage the council to consider increasing its 
communications resource. In particular, we would recommend that the council explores 

1 Source, 2017 LGA Heads of Communications Survey - 
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Heads%20of%20Communications%20Survey%20Report%2020
17%20-%20Final_0.pdf

Page 12

Agenda Item 6

https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Heads%20of%20Communications%20Survey%20Report%202017%20-%20Final_0.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Heads%20of%20Communications%20Survey%20Report%202017%20-%20Final_0.pdf


opportunities to engage further strategic communications expertise into the team to help 
the council develop its communications strategy and help the organisation to create a 
function that has a strategic, advisory role within the organisation as well as a tactical 
delivery responsibility. It is our view that a role like this will, particularly in the immediate 
term, support the council to prioritise its activities and use its resources for strategic 
communications activities that will deliver even greater impact. We would also advise 
the council to consider additional tactical communications support into the 
communications function. This could take the form of an additional post or considering 
whether communications skills exist elsewhere in the organisation.

In addition to reviewing resource, we would urge the council to introduce a more 
structured way of requesting communications. While we would not wish to add 
unnecessary bureaucracy to a small organisation, it is our view that the current ‘turn up 
and request help’ approach is hampering the team’s ability to operate strategically and 
focus its work on the council’s emerging priorities. Developing a simple request form, 
outlining what service areas or members are looking to achieve, and how the work 
supports the emerging priorities of the council, would help communications to review 
and prioritise requests in a more structured way. It would also offer them more scope to 
turn down requests which do not meet corporate needs, or suggest alternative ways to 
achieve the desired outcomes. It is our view that empowering the team to use its 
expertise to advise on strategy and channels, rather than focus on delivering requests, 
will better position it as a strategic service. The team may also wish to consider 
introducing weekly meetings to review the requests received and discuss how they 
intend to approach them. While the function’s clear goodwill and willingness to deliver is 
commendable, we would strongly advise them to have confidence in declining requests 
which do not fit the ambitions of the wider organisation or agreed priority areas of focus.

While we would encourage the council to increase its dedicated resource, the peer team 
agreed that the position of communications within the council’s structure was correct. 
The function is overseen by the head of transformation & strategy who in turn reports to 
the chief executive. This clear line of access between communications and chief 
executive is considered as best practice in local government. The clear link between the 
service and the political leadership of the organisation is also appropriate.

There are also many other good examples of best practice within the communications 
team. They have regular corporate oversight of freedom of information requests and 
releases. Communications features as a standing item on all strategic management 
team meetings and there is a strong and highly visible brand. The weekly print quality 
group meetings, that communications coordinate, also ensure that there is corporate 
awareness of the materials that have been designed and an opportunity to ensure that 
they meet the council’s brand guidelines in full. 

We were however told that on some occasions, the weekly print quality meetings have 
provided the first opportunity for communications to see some materials that have been 
requested. Introducing a more formal process for communications support may help to 
reduce the risk of this and we would encourage the council to review the processes for 
ordering design work through the print studio and reinforce the need for all 
communications work to be formally requested through the communications team. 

The rapid pace of change presents all communicators with the challenge of keeping 
their skills up to date, however it was positive to see the efforts the council has made to 

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



meet this. The council is using social media platforms and has trained a number of 
colleagues across the organisation in social media management. It has also begun 
using video technology. In addition to channel expertise there is however an increasing 
requirement for local government communicators to demonstrate expertise in campaign 
planning, strategic thinking, and evidencing and evaluating the outcome and impact of 
its communications. As budgets continue to tighten across local government, it is 
essential that communicators are able to develop strategic, measurable campaigns, are 
familiar with using data and insight to inform planning and evaluate success, and can 
apply a broad knowledge of the correct channels to reach intended audiences. These 
skills will help to ensure that communications campaigns deliver tangible impact and will 
help the service demonstrate its value for money. As members of both the LGA and 
LGComms the council already has access to a great deal of best practice and training 
opportunities in the more strategic skills required by modern communications 
professionals. We would encourage the communications team to take up these 
opportunities and familiarise themselves with best practice and case studies available 
through the LGA’s Comms Hub support pages.

6.2 Digital

Sevenoaks District Council has introduced a number of digital channels to communicate 
with residents and stakeholders. Externally the council uses Twitter and Facebook as 
both a corporate communications and customer services tool. It has also recently 
overhauled its website to ensure that it is more relevant and accessible to communities 
seeking to find information or complete transactions. Projects of this nature can be 
particularly extensive and it is to the council’s credit that this has been achieved 
smoothly and efficiently. The council is also in the process of introducing a web chat 
facility for customers looking to talk directly to customer services, which is extremely 
positive.

The peer team was impressed by the effective relationship which appeared to be in 
place between communications and customer services in respect of social media 
platforms. Those we spoke with appeared clear about the different responsibilities and 
remits that each department had in respect of the corporate social media accounts and 
there appeared to be strong communications between both departments meaning that 
issues were flagged early. We were advised that several members of customer services 
had received training in how to use social media channels to provide some resilience 
and share expertise across the function. We would however encourage the council to 
explore greater opportunities for training a wider range of colleagues in customer 
services and the communications team to help position social media interaction as a 
core skill and support colleagues with developing the correct tone of voice, providing 
resilience and strengthening confidence in this area. 

During our time on site there appeared to be an appetite for making better use of social 
channels. Indeed the council has explored strengthening its social platforms by 
incorporating videos and gifs as part of its output and developing a less formal tone to 
its messages. This is positive to see and we would encourage the council to keep 
developing this work and ensuring that its content is always optimised for social 
platforms (for examples, images always being created in the dimensions required for 
social channels). We would also encourage the communications team to work 
collaboratively with colleagues across the council to identify positive people stories that 
could be shared through social channels. Sevenoaks has an abundance of positive 

Page 14

Agenda Item 6

http://www.lgcomms.org.uk/
https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/guidance-and-resources/comms-hub-communications-support


stories to tell and social media platforms can often be an effective way of engaging 
communities in these.

While the council has a social media policy in place there did not appear to be a 
dedicated digital strategy and shared (and agreed) social media plan. We would 
encourage the council to include digital as part of its work to develop a new corporate 
communications strategy and develop a social media plan to help structure and 
prioritise content in a consistent way. This should align with corporate priorities and be 
understood by both service areas and members. This will help to ensure that social 
media activity is consistent, coordinated and strategic wherever possible. 

It is also important that both the communications service and wider council colleagues 
(service areas and members) understand the strengths and weaknesses of different 
platforms so that messages can be appropriate tailored to the correct platform and that 
proactive campaign messages can be coordinated across channels in a strategic way.

To support this we would encourage the council to invest time in evaluating the impact 
of its current digital channels and understanding who its digital audiences are. The most 
recent residents’ satisfaction survey (conducted in 2015) indicated that only four per 
cent of those surveyed had seen the council’s social media output in the past six 
months. It would be valuable for the council to understand if that level is still accurate 
and if so, why that is, to help inform campaign-planning and ensure that its efforts in 
respect of social media are delivering the desired impact. This insight will also help the 
communications team to explain the merits of different channels for achieving different 
aims to service areas and members. Conducting further research into how local people 
use social channels, or whether there is an appetite for digital communication channels 
outside of social media (for example, targeted e-bulletins) will help the council to plan 
and prioritise its resources. Understanding this detail could be easily achieved by 
including greater questions around communication preferences in the next resident 
satisfaction survey (due to release in October 2018). Should this research indicate an 
appetite among residents for more digital channels, the LGA can connect the council 
with other organisations using other digital platforms, if that would be of interest. 

Going forward, it will also be important for the council to understand the level of 
expectation that residents have about contacting the council through digital channels, 
particularly out of hours. Currently the council provides social media coverage on week 
days only but as times change it is possible that there will become a greater expectation 
for 24/7 cover, or increase demands from the local media for greater digital content. 
This challenge is one facing local government as a whole but would be worth the 
council considering as part of the longer term strategic planning.

6.3 Role of members

It was clear from our time on site that Sevenoaks benefits from members with great 
passion and enthusiasm for their roles. Many of those we met with expressed an 
appetite for the council to make the most of communication opportunities, with several 
councillors bringing a knowledge of public relations and marketing practices from their 
own professional backgrounds. This willingness to share knowledge has clearly been of 
value to the council in recent times, particularly in respect of helping the organisation to 
develop its brand story. 

Page 15

Agenda Item 6



It was also clear from our time on site that the council as a whole recognises the 
important role that members have to play in communicating the council’s activities to 
residents. The council’s leader is also an extremely capable and dynamic communicator 
who demonstrates strong leadership around communications and passion for ensuring 
that the Sevenoaks story is heard far and wide. Indeed, the leader’s own 
communications activity, particularly through social platforms, has been an important 
asset in helping to amplify the council’s corporate messages to date.

We would encourage the council to support all members with developing their 
knowledge and confidence in using social media to ensure that all councillors are able 
to participate in engaging with residents in this way. The changing nature of 
communications means that many people, across many different age brackets, are 
using social media to discuss and engage in issues and it is important that as elected 
representative councillors have the required skills to participate in these discussions. 
We would advise the council to identify a training provider to help deliver social media 
training for councillors. We would also encourage the council to consider running media 
training for cabinet members to ensure resilience across the council when media 
interviews on key corporate priorities are required. There will be many occasions where 
the leader is the most appropriate person to speak directly to the media, however it is 
important that key portfolio holders are also trained and supported to fulfil this role as 
necessary.

The size of the communications team, and need for a communications strategy aligned 
to corporate priorities is contributing to a sense of frustration among some members. 
Some of those we met highlighted occasions where they felt they have had to wait for 
support to be provided, or where the function had been unable to directly deliver on 
communications requests. Embedding further resource into the communications team 
will assist with providing extra resilience and capacity to manage requests, but it is 
important for members to understand the need for communications to focus its activities 
on agreed corporate priorities. To help manage expectations and avoid disappointment 
we would encourage the council to find opportunities for members to contribute their 
thoughts into the early planning stages on which corporate campaigns the council will 
focus on each year. It is our view that ensuring members have greater involvement at 
the early stages in inputting into what the communications function will focus on may 
help to avoid disappointment later down the line. 

We would also recommend that the council considers introducing a regular bulletin for 
members to keep them informed about what the council has been communicating, the 
coverage and reach that it has achieved and the impact that it’s more proactive, and 
strategic approach to communications is delivering. It is our view that introducing more 
regular updates directly to members will help them to better understand the wide range 
of activities the communications team is engaged in and may help to manage 
expectations.

The changing nature of communications means that councils now have even more 
channels available for communicating with residents and stakeholders. There is also an 
even greater requirement for communications practitioners to have a wider range of 
skills and expertise. To help members understand the new landscape, and the reasons 
why non-traditional communication channels may be more appropriate for certain 
messages, we would encourage the council to share the LGA’s #FutureComms guide. 

Page 16

Agenda Item 6

https://www.local.gov.uk/future-comms


6.4 Internal communications

Sevenoaks District Council is an organisation that clearly recognises the importance and 
value of internal communication. Its Investors In People platinum status illustrates the high 
regard in which internal communication and employee engagement is held in, and many of 
those we met highlighted that they felt extremely well informed about council news and 
activities. The passion, dedication and enthusiasm that employees have for working at 
Sevenoaks District Council is both palpable and impressive. Indeed, the latest staff survey 
results reveal that 90 per cent of employees are proud to work for the organisation. The 
council should be extremely proud of these results.

The council’s quarterly staff briefings were singled out as particularly effective for keeping 
employees informed. Many of those we met with praised the openness with which these 
meetings were conducted, and the flexible way in which the sessions were arranged in 
order for both part time and remote workers to attend. Other communications channels, 
including Grapevine, the council’s internal staff bulletin, and the intranet were also subject 
to praise, with many employees highlighting that the information was easy to digest, 
relevant and helped to foster a strong sense of community and collaboration amongst 
colleagues from across the council. 

Several of those we met with also identified the visibility of both the chief executive and 
leader as key contributing factors to these high levels of internal engagement. There is 
widespread appreciation for the approachability and openness displayed by the council’s 
corporate and political leadership, with many commenting specifically on the efforts both 
have made to create a supportive, empathetic, ‘no blame’ culture in which employees are 
known by name and people trust that issues will be dealt with effectively and transparently. 
This approach to internal communication is to the council’s credit, as is its decision to 
include communications as a standing item on the council’s induction programme – 
illustrating the extent to which the importance of staff communication is emphasised from 
the very beginning. 

The peer team could find little in the way of improvements to suggest to the council in 
respect of internal communication. Developing a shared calendar of events across the 
council could be considered to help ensure that all service areas and members are aware 
of upcoming activities and to ensure that internal messages are coordinated in the most 
effective way. As previously highlighted, re-introducing a member bulletin would be a 
valuable exercise to ensure that there is a channel dedicated to communicating internally 
with members. It is also important that the council ensures internal communications are 
fully integrated into its new corporate communications strategy and factored into proactive 
campaigns aligned to organisational priorities. This will ensure that the council delivers a 
consistent communications message to its internal and external audiences and has more 
time and opportunity to maximise the value and reach of its campaign content.  

6.5 Priority setting

The council has a strong history of setting, and achieving, the priorities set out in its 
corporate plans. Indeed the organisation’s determination and clear focus on achieving 
its ambitions resulted in the council fulfilling its aim to be financially self-sufficient early. 
We were informed during our time on site that the organisation is currently in the 
process of developing a new corporate plan which will launch later in the year and will 

Page 17

Agenda Item 6



include a focus on the environment, housing, economy, health and community safety. 
The new plan will also feature the strapline ‘seriously different council’ and will 
emphasise the values of striving for excellence, innovation and value.

During our time in Sevenoaks there were mixed levels of awareness of the detail of the 
emerging corporate plan and strapline. This is unsurprising giving it is still in 
development, but we would encourage the council to ensure that the communications 
team is involved in supporting the corporate and political leadership with the 
development of a simple, plain English corporate narrative to help articulate the vision of 
the emerging plan to internal and external audiences. Developing a robust corporate 
narrative will help the organisation to tell its story in a consistent and engaging way and 
will be an important asset in ensuring that service areas, and members, are clear on the 
priorities that the council will be focusing on in the years ahead. Further support on 
developing a corporate narrative can be found in the LGA’s corporate narrative toolkit.

Launching the strategy to internal and external audiences will also require the council to 
develop some shorter key messages that can be used by service areas and members 
to reiterate significant aspects of the council’s new story. We would again encourage 
the council to ensure that the communications function is involved in supporting the 
council to developing this wording and promote it among audiences. 

Internally, the council may wish to consider developing some bespoke communication 
plans to fully engage its employees in the new values of striving for excellence, 
innovation and value. It was clear from our time on site that the engagement base is 
already very high and provides the council with excellent foundations for doing this. 
There are also clear plans to feature details about the plan in staff briefings later in the 
year. These values messages could be further amplified through other internal channels 
such as the intranet, grapevine, or internal videos, or perhaps developing bespoke 
internal campaigns that illustrate employees embodying these values in their work. The 
LGA can connect Sevenoaks District Council with other organisations who have 
embarked on similar projects if that would be of interest.  

While the communications team will have an important role to play in promoting the new 
corporate plan, there is also a need for them to develop a communications strategy 
driven by and aligned to the council’s new priorities. We would encourage the council to 
address this as a matter of priority to ensure that the communications team are able to 
focus their activities and resources on the areas of greatest importance to the wider 
organisation and can identify greater opportunities for proactive activity. It is also our 
view that developing a clear communications strategy will support the function with 
managing both demand and expectation for communications assistance from both 
service areas and members. The new communications strategy should include key 
messages, audience insight, measurable communications objectives and details of what 
success looks like and how it will be measured. In light of the council’s history of 
achieving its objectives early, it is important for the strategy to be reviewed annually to 
ensure that it is able to develop with the council’s progress and reflects the most up to 
date priorities of the organisation. 

Alongside the communications strategy we would recommend that the council develop 
an annual campaign plan to help the organisation to proactively communicate its 
priorities. While the exact number of campaigns is a matter for the council to decide, the 
organisation may find it helpful to proactively plan at least one proactive campaign for 

Page 18

Agenda Item 6

https://www.local.gov.uk/our-support/guidance-and-resources/comms-hub-communications-support/corporate-narrative-toolkit-0


each of its corporate priorities. In our experience of delivering communications support 
to councils, this approach has often been an effective way of ensuring that limited 
communications resources and budgets are directed towards the areas that will add 
greatest value and the LGA can connect the council with other organisations who have 
implemented this approach if it will be of interest or assistance.  It is important that both 
the corporate and political leadership of the organisation agree and sign off the annual 
campaign plan, and allocate dedicated budgets to each as appropriate. We would also 
advise the council to ensure that service areas and members have a chance to offer 
their input into what the annual campaigns should be to encourage a sense of shared 
ownership over what corporate campaigns the council will be running each year. The 
communications team should however be supported to deliver on the detail. 

Adopting a more campaign-focused approach to communications will enable the 
communications team to develop more detailed, integrated and proactive communications 
plans, which are likely to yield greater impact and reach of its key messages. Working in 
this way may also require a reduction in the level of ad hoc or reactive support that the 
communications team is able to provide to service areas and members. While flexibility 
should be factored in and there will always be a need to respond to emerging or changing 
corporate priorities, it is important that the communications function is empowered to focus 
its time and resources on its agreed annual campaigns and activities linked to the 
corporate priorities. Further advice and guidance on working in a more campaign-focused 
way can be found in the Government Communications Services’ OASIS campaign 
planning model.

As part of developing corporate campaigns and communication priorities we would 
encourage the council to make greater use of data and insight. During our time on site we 
could see little evidence of how the organisation evaluates the success and impact of its 
communication channels or activities or how data collected by other parts of the 
organisation is used to inform future communications planning. 

The size of the team and varied demands on their time makes this gap unsurprising. 
However, the emerging new corporate plan presents an ideal opportunity to try working in 
a more insight-driven way. We would encourage the communications department and 
service areas to discuss what data is currently held under each of the new priority areas of 
focus and consider whether there are opportunities for the council to create 
communications campaigns to help address issues or trends (for example, if data sets 
suggest there are high levels of recycling contamination, could a proactive communications 
campaign be developed to help fix this challenge in support of the council’s environment 
priority). Working in this way not only helps to position the communications team as a more 
strategic service, it also provides greater opportunity for them to illustrate the impact of 
their work. 

We would also advise the council to carry out more regular evaluation of its channels and 
strengthen its understanding of how residents consume information about the council and 
would prefer to. This could be quickly achieved by including some additional, more detailed 
questions about channel preferences into the existing residents’ satisfaction survey. This 
will help the communications team to direct their resources into the channels with greatest 
impact and potentially free up some capacity to trial other ways to communicate with 
people, such as through video or email bulletins, as they look to tell the story of their new 
corporate plan. 

Page 19

Agenda Item 6

https://gcs.civilservice.gov.uk/guidance/campaigns/guide-to-campaign-planning-2/
https://gcs.civilservice.gov.uk/guidance/campaigns/guide-to-campaign-planning-2/


Developing a simple evaluation dashboard to illustrate the impact of its activities may also 
be something the council wishes to consider to help make better use of data and insight 
and support service areas and members to understand which messages, channels and 
activities deliver greatest value to target audiences.

During our time on site several of those we met with highlighted the council’s ambition to 
extend its services into public health and broaden the reach of its messages about the 
council’s ambitions for the local area. Effective partnership working will be an important 
asset in achieving these goals. While there appeared to be some very strong relationships 
with local partners and service areas, there was limited evidence of the council’s 
communications team working directly with colleagues from partner organisations. We 
were also informed that the council was engaged in a number of partnership projects 
where communications activity was being managed outside of the council, for example on 
projects including One You or the Kent Partnership Group’s recycling projects. While it will 
often be appropriate for other organisations to lead the communications around multi-
agency activities, we would encourage the communications service to identify opportunities 
to develop relationships with communicators from partner organisations. This could include 
quarterly communication meetings, or more informal opportunities to share learning and 
best practice, or discuss potential opportunities for collaborative campaigns. As a small 
function it is important that the council’s communications team has the right relationships in 
place with partner colleagues to be able to support in times of crisis and high demand and 
to share learning and ideas. Collaborating on campaigns that benefit the wider Sevenoaks 
area may also enable the council to achieve greater impact and reach of their messages 
by sharing resources and dividing the workload. 

From a practical perspective we would also encourage the council to conduct an audit of 
current communications spend. This will help the council to understand how much money 
is being spent on communications activity across the organisation and put the council in a 
stronger position to decide whether current activity is aligned to corporate priorities. We 
would advise the council to consider consolidating communications budget into a central 
pot to ensure that it can remain focused on financing agreed, proactive campaigns.

7. Key recommendations 

We have grouped our findings into ‘quick wins’, essentially those matters that could and 
should be dealt with as soon as possible, which, if addressed will create the environment 
for the medium term recommendations to also be achieved.

Quick wins

 Embed additional strategic communications resource and communications skill into 
communications team 

 Audit communications spend across the council to identify where money is being 
spent

 Re-introduce member bulletins to provide updates on the council, its 
communications activity and impact

 Identify a training provider to deliver social media training for relevant service areas 
(e.g. customer services) and members to improve consistency, provide resilience 
and strengthen skills

 Arrange media training sessions for portfolio holders

Page 20

Agenda Item 6



 Conduct a skills audit to identify additional communications expertise and capability 
across the organisation to support resilience

 Identify opportunities for communicators from partner organisations to meet, share 
best practice and ideas, and explore opportunities for future collaboration

 Further develop weekly news grid to identify more proactive communications 
opportunities (aligned to emerging corporate plan). Build in opportunities for council-
wide input to strengthen oversight and forward planning

 Establish more regular link between full cabinet and communications team
 Take up training and best practice opportunities afforded by existing membership of 

LGA and LGComms
 Create measurement and evaluation dashboard to help demonstrate impact of 

communication. Define what success looks like and share monthly with senior 
officers and members

 Be prepared to say no to communications requests outside of emerging corporate 
priorities

 Create a communications process, aligned to emerging corporate priorities, to help 
service areas and members to request planned communications support which 
reflects organisation’s priorities

 Extend evaluation of communication channels to better understand how residents 
would prefer to receive information about the council.

 Make the most of opportunities to demonstrate humour and human voice on social 
media channels – consider making more use of Skippy on corporate social media 
accounts.  

Medium term

 Engage strategic communications resource to respond to corporate priorities and 
management of communications, print, design, internal communications, marketing 
and all council communication spend. Create a corporate communication strategy 
aligned to emerging corporate priorities. Strategy should include clear objectives, 
key messages and methods of evaluation.

 Introduce more regular opportunities for members and officers to agree timeframes 
for delivering communications which support corporate priorities. 

 Create an annual communications campaign plan, aligned to corporate priorities. 
This should be agreed and signed off by the corporate and political leadership with 
input from service areas, members and communications.

 Consider opportunities afforded by digital technology to trial targeted resident 
communications. If successful, promote subscription opportunities through other 
channels (e.g. customer services to promote targeted bulletins, web pop ups)

8. Next steps 

Immediate next steps 

We appreciate that you will want to reflect on these findings and suggestions with your 
senior managerial and political leadership in order to determine how the council wishes 
to take things forward. 

As part of the communications peer review process, there is an offer of further support. I 
would be very happy to discuss any areas for development and improvement where the 

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



LGA can help you. Kate Herbert, Principal Adviser, is the main contact between your 
authority and LGA for any wider support. Her contact details are: 
kate.herbert@local.gov.uk.

Yours sincerely

Claire Thurlow
Review manager and communications improvement advisor 
Local Government Association

Page 22

Agenda Item 6

mailto:kate.herbert@local.gov.uk


BUDGET 2019/20: SERVICE DASHBOARDS AND SERVICE CHANGE IMPACT 
ASSESSMENTS (SCIAs)

Policy and Performance Advisory Committee – 27 November 2018

Report of Chief Finance Officer

Status For comment 

Also considered by Economic and Community Development Advisory Committee 
– 25 September 2018

Planning Advisory Committee – 2 October 2018

Legal and Democratic Services Advisory Committee – 4 
October 2018

Direct and Trading Advisory Committee – 9 October 2018

Finance Advisory Committee – 15 November 2018

Housing and Health Advisory Committee – 27 November 2018

Key Decision No

Executive Summary: 

This report sets out updates to the 2019/20 budget within the existing framework 
of the 10-year budget and savings plan.  The report presents growth and savings 
proposals that have been identified which need to be considered (if applicable to 
this Committee), and requests further suggestions from the Advisory Committees, 
before finalising the budget for 2019/20.

Informed by the latest information from Government and discussions with Cabinet, 
it is proposed that the Council continues to set a revenue budget which assumes no 
direct funding from Government through the Revenue Support Grant or New Homes 
Bonus. This will result in the Council continuing to be financially self-sufficient as 
set out in its Corporate Plan.

To achieve this aim and to ensure a balanced budget position over the next 10-year 
period, whilst also increasing the Council’s ability to be sustainable beyond that 
time, a savings requirement of £100,000 per annum is included. 

Other pressures may result in a requirement for further savings.  Officers will 
continue to monitor these pressures and report the latest position to Cabinet in 
December. 

Page 23

Agenda Item 7



Portfolio Holder Cllr. John Scholey

Contact Officer(s) Adrian Rowbotham,  Ext. 7153

Alan Mitchell, Ext. 7483

Recommendation to each Advisory Committee:  

(a) Advise Cabinet with views on the growth and savings proposals identified in 
Appendix D applicable to this Advisory Committee.

(b) Advise Cabinet with further suggestions for growth and savings applicable to 
this Advisory Committee.

Reason for recommendation: It is important that the views of the Advisory 
Committees are taken into account in the budget process to ensure that the 
Council’s resources are used in the most suitable manner. 

Introduction and Background

1 The Council’s financial strategy over the past fourteen years has worked 
towards increasing financial sustainability and it has been successful through 
the use of a number of strategies including:

 implementing efficiency initiatives;

 significantly reducing the back office function;

 improved value for money;

 maximising external income;

 the movement of resources away from low priority services; and

 an emphasis on statutory rather than non-statutory services.

2 Over this period, the Council has focused on delivering high quality services 
based on Members’ priorities and consultation with residents and 
stakeholders.  In financial terms, the adoption of this strategy has to date 
allowed the Council to move away from its reliance on general fund 
reserves.

3 Using the data sources available to the Council, this report sets out a budget 
over the 10-year period but recognises that it is likely that more accurate 
data will become available in future months and current assumptions may 
need to be updated. 

4 In setting its budget for 2011/12 onwards, the Council recognised the need 
to address both the short-term reduction in Government funding as well as 
the longer-term need to reduce its reliance on reserves. The outcome was a 
10-year budget, together with a four-year savings plan, that ensured the 

Page 24

Agenda Item 7



Council’s finances were placed on a stable footing but that also allowed for 
flexibility between budget years.  

5 With the Revenue Support Grant provided by Government ceasing from 
2017/18 it is important that the council remains financially self-sufficient by 
having a balanced economy and a financial strategy that is focused on local 
solutions.  These solutions include:

 continuing to deliver financial savings and service efficiencies;

 growing the council tax and business rate base; and

 generating more income.

6 The intention of this report is to provide Members of each Advisory 
Committee an opportunity to give their views on potential growth and 
savings items that could be included in the updated 10-year budget that will 
be presented to Council on 26 February 2019.  

7 The ‘Financial Prospects and Budget Strategy 2019/20 and Beyond’ report 
has been presented to Cabinet to start the budget setting process for 
2019/20.

Financial Self-Sufficiency

8 The Council’s Corporate Plan, introduced in 2013, set out an ambition for 
the Council to become financially self-sufficient which was achieved in 
2016/17. This means that the Council no longer requires direct funding from 
Government, through Revenue Support Grant or New Homes Bonus, to 
deliver its services.

9 This approach was adopted in response to the financial challenges the 
Country is faced with in bringing its public spending down to ensure it is able 
to live within its means. In practice this has seen Government funding to 
local authorities dramatically reduced since 2010/11 with Sevenoaks District 
Council receiving no Revenue Support Grant from 2017/8.

10 The decision to become financially self-sufficient is intended to give the 
Council greater control over its services, reducing the potential for decision 
making to be influenced by the level of funding provided by government to 
local authorities. 

11 The Council’s decision to seek to become financially self-sufficient was 
subject to scrutiny by the Local Government Associations Peer Challenge of 
the District Council during December 2013. In their closing letter to the 
Council they concluded that they ‘fully support that aspiration and given the 
existing and anticipated squeeze upon public finances this makes much 
sense’.

12 With the Council receiving no Revenue Support Grant from 2017/18 and New 
Homes Bonus reducing from 2018/19, this approach remains appropriate.  
The attached 10-year budget assumes no Revenue Support Grant or New 

Page 25

Agenda Item 7



Homes Bonus.  Any funding received from these sources will be put into the 
Financial Plan Reserve which can be used to support the 10-year budget by 
funding invest to save initiatives and supporting the Property Investment 
Strategy.  One of the aims of the Property Investment Strategy is to achieve 
returns of 5%+ when not borrowing or in excess of 3% for schemes that 
include some external borrowing; therefore using funding for this purpose 
will result in additional year on year income that is not impacted by 
Government decisions.

13 Cabinet are keen to remain financially self-sufficient and be ahead of the 
game.  This allows this Council to move ahead in the knowledge that it has 
the financial resources to provide the services that the district’s residents 
want into the future.

Service Dashboards

14 The intention of service dashboards is to provide Members with improved 
information during the budget setting process to provide context and inform 
any growth and savings ideas that Members may put forward.

15 The Service Dashboards cover a summary of the services provided, 
objectives, achievements and opportunities, challenges and risks and 
performance.

16 Appendix A contains the Service Dashboard for this Advisory Committee and 
Appendix B contains the budget for those services.

Savings Plan

17 Appendix C to this report sets out a summary of the savings and growth 
items approved by Council since the 10-year budget strategy was first used 
in 2011/12, which have allowed the Council to deliver a 10 year balanced 
budget.  

18 The savings plan requires a total of over £7 million to be saved between 
2011/12 and 2018/19 which is an average saving of nearly £900,000 per 
annum.  In the fourteen years from 2005/06, over £10m of savings will then 
have been made.

19 The 10-year budget attached shows a net saving or additional income 
requirement of £100,000 per annum to deliver a long-term sustainable 
budget.

20 Other pressures may result in a requirement for further savings.  Officers 
will continue to monitor these pressures and report the latest position to 
Cabinet in December.

Proposed Growth and Savings Items

21 Growth items are items that are in addition to non-service issues and risks, 
such as grant settlements, impacts of economic change and other pressures 

Page 26

Agenda Item 7



highlighted in the ‘Financial Prospects and Budget Strategy 2019/20 and 
Beyond’ report considered by Cabinet on 13 September 2018.

22 A number of growth and savings items will be proposed at the seven Advisory 
Committees with the aim of achieving the £100,000 mentioned above.  The 
£100,000 does not necessarily have to all be achieved in 2019/20 but the 
impact is required to be £1m (i.e. £100,000 x 10 years) over the 10-year 
budget period.

23 The proposed growth and savings items relating to this Advisory Committee 
are listed in Appendix D.

24 Service Change Impact Assessments (SCIAs) contain further details for all 
proposed growth and savings items.  SCIAs applicable to this Advisory 
Committee can be found in Appendix E.

25 During the budget process last year, each Advisory Committee was asked to 
provide further growth and savings suggestions to Cabinet.  Some suggestions 
were approved as part of the 2018/19 budget but Cabinet indicated that 
some other suggestions would be worth keeping on a list for future 
investigation.  The suggestions for future investigation relating to this 
Advisory Committee are included in Appendix F and Members may wish to 
consider these ideas when proposing growth and savings suggestions.

Financial Summary

26 The assumptions currently included take into account the latest information 
available but a number of assumptions may change before the final budget 
meeting in February 2018.

27 The 10-year budget attached at Appendix G includes the changes that were 
included in the ‘Financial Prospects and Budget Strategy 2019/20 and 
Beyond’ report.

Role of the Advisory Committees

28 Training sessions on the budget process have been provided to Members in 
previous years to ensure that they have an understanding of the process and 
relevant issues to allow them to play an active part in the budget setting 
process.  If Members require refresher training, please contact Adrian 
Rowbotham, Chief Finance Officer.

29 Views of the Advisory Committees on the growth and savings items proposed 
together with any additional suggestions will be considered by Cabinet at its 
meeting on 6 December 2018.

Process and Timetable

30 This report is the second stage of the budget process as shown in the Budget 
Timetable (Appendix H).

Page 27

Agenda Item 7



31 It is possible that Advisory Committees may have to re-address service 
budgets in January if significant changes have taken place leading to a large 
and unmanageable deficit.

Key Implications

Financial

All financial implications are covered elsewhere in this report.

Legal Implications and Risk Assessment Statement.

There are no legal implications.

For the effective management of our resources and in order to achieve a 
sustainable budget it is essential that all service cost changes and risks are 
identified and considered.

Challenges and risks are included in the Service Dashboards and each Service 
Change Impact Assessment (SCIA) includes the likely impacts including a risk 
analysis.

Financial risks will be reviewed again when the Cabinet publishes its proposals for 
the annual budget.

Equality Assessment

Members are reminded of the requirement, under the Public Sector Equality Duty 
(section 149 of the Equality Act 2010) to have due regard to (i) eliminate unlawful 
discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct prohibited by the 
Equality Act 2010, (ii) advance equality of opportunity between people from 
different groups, and (iii) foster good relations between people from different 
groups.

Individual equality impact assessments have been completed for all Service Change 
Impact Assessments (SCIAs) to ensure the decision making process is fair and 
transparent.
  

Conclusions

The Strategic Financial and Business Planning process has ensured that the Council 
follows a logical and well considered process and approach in dealing with the 
many difficult financial challenges that it has faced.  The 10-year budget has 
further improved this process and helped to ensure that the Council is well placed 
in dealing with more immediate and longer-term financial challenges.

By becoming financially self-sufficient at an early stage, this Council has become 
much more in control of its own destiny as the Property Investment Strategy should 
provide a much more stable income stream than the reducing direct government 
funding streams.

Page 28

Agenda Item 7



The attached 10-year budget shows that this Council can continue to be financially 
stable going into the future with a level of assurance that any council would aspire 
to.

This budget process will once again be a major financial challenge for a Council 
that already provides value for money services to a high standard.  In making any 
budget proposals, Members will need to consider the impact on service quality and 
staff well-being, to ensure that these proposals lead to an achievable 10-year 
budget that supports the Council’s aspirations for customer-focused services.

Members’ consideration and scrutiny of the relevant services is an essential and key 
element in the business and financial planning process.  If the net total of growth 
and savings proposals identified by the Advisory Committees and approved by 
Cabinet does not reach the £100,000 savings target, additional savings will be 
required that may result in service changes, to ensure a balanced budget position.  

Appendices Appendix A – Service Dashboards relating to this 
Advisory Committee.

Appendix B – 2017/18 Budget by Service relating 
to this Advisory Committee.

Appendix C – Summary of the Council’s agreed 
savings plan and growth items.

Appendix D – New growth and savings items 
proposed relating to this Advisory Committee (if 
applicable).

Appendix E - Service Change Impact Assessment 
forms (SCIAs) for the new growth and savings 
items relating to this Advisory Committee (if 
applicable).

Appendix F - Update on growth and savings 
suggestions made last year relating to this 
Advisory Committee (if applicable)

Appendix G – 10-year budget.

Appendix H – Budget timetable.

Background Papers None  

Adrian Rowbotham

Chief Finance Officer

Page 29

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

Service Dashboard
Portfolio for Policy & Performance 

2

1

0

Green

Amber

Red

Performance

4,312

1,207

3,105

Expenditure Income Net

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

3500

4000

4500

Revenue Budget (£000)

The services we provide

Corporate policy & performance, communications, customer service standards, business 

transformation, special projects (asset acquisition, disposal & redevelopment), digital, human 

resources

Service contribution

Statutory service 


Income generating 


Working in partnership


Corporate priorities

Self-sufficiency 

Value for Money 

Safe district 

Collect rubbish effectively  

Green Belt 

Local Economy 

Challenges & Risks

 To deliver the promises set out in the new 
Council Plan

 To maintain the Council’s Platinum 
Investors in People status and continually 
improve recruitment and retention.

 To continue to develop the use of 
technology and the customer solutions 
model to improve the customer 
experience

 To deliver projects within the Council’s 
Property Investment portfolio

Achievements & Opportunities
 Maintained low levels of customer 

complaints, with only two Stage 2 
complaints in 2017/18

 Delivered a new Customer Solutions 
working model through the customer 
redesign project

 Continued to make progress with the 
Council’s Property Investment Strategy, 
completing the Premier Inn development 
& car park and residential developments 
at Buckhurst 2 on target

 Opportunity to improve communications 
across the Council following LGA Peer 
Review.

Page 31

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B

Policy and Performance Advisory Committee: 2018/19 Budget by Service

Revenue
2018/19 

Expenditure
2018/19 
Income

2018/19    
Net

Chief Officer Description £'000 £'000 £'000
Communities and Business Economic Development Property 277 0 277
Communities and Business Property Investment Strategy 184 (919) (735)
Corporate Services Administrative Expenses - Corporate Support 25 0 25
Corporate Services Administrative Expenses - Human Resources 8 (3) 5
Corporate Services Asset Maintenance IT 277 0 277
Corporate Services Corporate Projects 95 0 95
Corporate Services Street Naming 11 (6) 5
Corporate Services Support - Contact Centre 445 0 445
Corporate Services Support - General Admin 33 0 33
Corporate Services Support - Human Resources 290 (8) 282
Corporate Services Support - IT 1,094 (26) 1,068
Corporate Services Support - Local Offices 31 0 31
Financial Services Action and Development 7 0 7
Financial Services Administrative Expenses - Transformation and Strategy 5 0 5
Financial Services Consultation and Surveys 4 0 4
Financial Services Corporate - Other 134 0 134
Financial Services Corporate Management 995 0 995
Financial Services External Communications 206 (14) 192
Financial Services Performance Improvement 6 (7) (1)
Financial Services Support - General Admin - Print 185 (224) (39)

4,312 (1,207) 3,105

Capital
2018/19 

Expenditure
Chief Officer Description £'000
Env & Op Svs Buckhurst 2 5,931
Env & Op Svs Sennocke Hotel 2,928
Finance Property Investment Strategy 25,198

34,057

Page 33

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Summary of the Council's Agreed Savings and Growth Items Appendix C

Description
2011/12 - 
2018/19 2019/20 Later Years Total

Year No. £000 £000 £000 £000
Direct and Trading Advisory Committee

2016/17 8 Playgrounds: reduction in asset maintenance (reversal of temporary 
saving item)

7

2016/17 9 Public Conveniences: reduction in asset maintenance (reversal of 
temporary saving item)

8

Economic and Community Development Advisory Committee
No savings or growth agreed from 2019/20 onwards

Finance Advisory Committee
2011/12 62,63 Staff terms and conditions - savings agreed by Council 18/10/11 (186) (187)
2018/19 11 Members Allowances: increase following JIRP review 15

Housing and Health Advisory Committee
No savings or growth agreed from 2019/20 onwards

Legal and Democratic Services Advisory Committee
No savings or growth agreed from 2019/20 onwards

Planning Advisory Committee
No savings or growth agreed from 2019/20 onwards

Policy and Performance Advisory Committee
2017/18 10 Apprenticeship Levy (reversal of temporary growth item) (45)
2018/19 3 Swanley Local Office contract (10) (15)
2018/19 13 IT Developers: funding for two years (reversal of temporary growth 

item)
(51)

Minor movements between years (1)

Total Savings (7,051) (196) (188) (7,435)
Total Growth 1,930 15 (96) 1,849
Net Savings (5,121) (181) (284) (5,586)

SCIA

P
age 35

A
genda Item

 7



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix D

New Growth and Savings Proposals: Policy and Performance Advisory Committee

Description Year Ongoing
2019/20 
Impact

 
Budget 
Impact

Year No. £000 £000
Growth

none
Sub Total 0 0

Savings
none
Sub Total 0 0
Net Savings Total 0 0

SCIA

P
age 37

A
genda Item

 7



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix E
SERVICE CHANGE IMPACT ASSESSMENT

Not applicable for this Advisory Committee as there are no new growth and 
savings proposals.

Page 39

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix F

Update on Growth and Savings Suggestions made last year relating to this Advisory 
Committees

Cabinet 07/12/17:

Cabinet discussed the further growth and savings items suggested by Advisory Committees 
and indicated that the following items be kept on the list for future investigation.

Policy and Performance Advisory Committee

Growth
Broadband improvements
Reinstatement of the Big Community Fund or something similar
Improved district event and activity promotion
Savings
Additional property acquisitions/developments
Investigate further shared services opportunities within this portfolio’s terms of 
reference
External communications (social and online)
Look at ways to reduce corporate management further 
Set up a bank (mobile/local)

Page 41

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Ten Year Budget Appendix G

Plan Plan Plan Plan Plan Plan Plan Plan Plan Plan Plan
2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 2026/27 2027/28 2028/29

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Expenditure

Net Service Expenditure c/f 14,470 14,687 14,966 15,321 15,705 16,083 16,468 16,859 17,254 17,655 18,166

Inflation 732 560 653 470 478 485 491 496 501 510 517

0 0 100 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Net savings (approved in previous years) (427) (186) (232) 14 0 0 0 (1) 0 1 0

New growth 292 15 (51) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

New savings/Income (380) (110) (115) (100) (100) (100) (100) (100) (100) 0 0

Net Service Expenditure b/f 14,687 14,966 15,321 15,705 16,083 16,468 16,859 17,254 17,655 18,166 18,683

Financing Sources

Govt Support: Revenue Support Grant 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Council Tax (10,420) (10,816) (11,157) (11,508) (11,869) (12,239) (12,619) (13,010) (13,411) (13,798) (14,196)

Business Rates Retention (2,700) (2,096) (2,138) (2,181) (2,225) (2,270) (2,315) (2,361) (2,408) (2,456) (2,505)

Collection Fund Surplus (255) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Interest Receipts (130) (250) (250) (250) (250) (250) (250) (250) (250) (250) (250)

Property Investment Strategy Income (735) (1,185) (1,185) (1,185) (1,185) (1,285) (1,329) (1,329) (1,529) (1,529) (1,529)

Contributions to/(from) Reserves (14) (353) (353) (353) (179) (179) (635) 148 148 148 148

Total Financing (14,254) (14,700) (15,083) (15,477) (15,708) (16,223) (17,148) (16,802) (17,450) (17,885) (18,332)

Budget Gap (surplus)/deficit 433 266 238 228 375 245 (289) 452 205 281 351

Contribution to/(from) Stabilisation Reserve (433) (266) (238) (228) (375) (245) 289 (452) (205) (281) (351)

Unfunded Budget Gap (surplus)/deficit 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Assumptions

Income:

£130,000 in 18/19, £250,000 in later years
£735,000 from 18/19, £1.185m from 19/20, £1.285m from 23/24, £1.329m from 24/25, £1.529m from 26/27 onwards. Sennocke 
Hotel income included from 2019/20.

2.5% in all years except for off-street car parks which are 3.5% from 19/20 -23/24.

Council Tax Base:
Interest Receipts:

2.25% in all years
2% in all yearsPay award:

Other costs:

Superannuation Fund deficit and staff 
recruitment & retention

New Homes Bonus

Property Investment Strategy:

nil all years
Business Rates Retention pilot estimate in 18/19, safety-net in 19/20 plus 2% in later years
2.97% in 18/19, 2% in later years
Increase of 580 Band D equivalent properties per annum in 19/20 - 26/27, 480 from 27/28

Revenue Support Grant:
Business Rates Retention:
Council Tax:

P
age 43

A
genda Item

 7



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Appendix H

2019/20 Budget Setting Timetable

Date Committee
Stage 1

4 September Finance ACFinancial Prospects and Budget Strategy 
2019/20 and Beyond 13 September Cabinet

  
Stage 2

25 September Economic & Comm. Dev. AC

2 October Planning AC

4 October Legal & Dem. Svs AC

9 October Direct & Trading AC

30 October Finance AC

27 November Housing & Health AC

Review of Service Dashboards and Service 
Change Impact Assessments (SCIAs)

29 November Policy & Performance AC

  
Stage 3

Budget Update (incl. Service Change 
Impact Assessments (SCIAs), feedback 

from Advisory Committees)
6 December Cabinet

  
Stage 4

Budget Update (incl. Government 
Settlement information) 10 January Cabinet

  
Stage 5

Budget Update and further review of 
Service Change Impact Assessments (if 

required)

 January - 
February Advisory Committees

  
Stage 6
Budget Setting Meeting (Recommendations 

to Council) 14 February Cabinet

  
Stage 7
Budget Setting Meeting (incl. Council Tax 

setting) 26 February Council

Note: The Scrutiny Committee may ‘call in’ items concerning the budget setting process.

Page 45

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Policy & Performance Advisory Committee Work Plan 2018/19 (as at 09/10/18)

29 November 2018 28 February 2019 Summer 2019 Autumn 2019

Communications Review

Budget Setting

 

P
age 47

A
genda Item

 8



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	6 Communications Review
	06 Communications Review - App A - Peer Review report

	7 Budget 2019/20: Service Dashboard and Service Change Impact Assessments (SCIAs)
	07 Budget - PPAC - App A - Service Dashboard
	07 Budget - PPAC - App B - 201819 Budget by service
	Policy & Perf

	07 Budget - ALL ACs - App C - Old growth savings
	Sheet1

	07 Budget - PPAC - App D - New growth savings
	Sheet1

	07 Budget - PPAC - App E - SCIAs
	07 Budget - PPAC - App F - Adv Ctte Previous Suggestions
	07 Budget - ALL ACs - App G - 10 year Budget
	Fin Plan Summary

	07 Budget - ALL ACs - App H - Budget Timetable

	8 Work Plan

